
 

Please contact Angela Scott on 0151 471 7529 or 
Angela.scott@halton.gov.uk  for further information. 
The next meeting of the Committee is on Thursday, 15 December 2011 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Chief Executive 
 

ITEMS TO BE DEALT WITH  
IN THE PRESENCE OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

 
 

PART 1 
 
 

Item Page No 
  
1. MINUTES 
 

 

2. DECLARATION OF INTEREST   
 

 

 Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
personal or personal and prejudicial interest which they have in 
any item of business on the agenda no later than when that item 
is reached and, with personal and prejudicial interests (subject 
to certain exceptions in the Code of Conduct for Members), to 
leave the meeting prior to discussion and voting on the item. 
 

 
 

3. RESOURCES PORTFOLIO 
 

 

 (A) ANNUAL AUDIT LETTER   
 

1 - 19 

 (B) DETERMINATION OF THE COUNCIL TAX BASE   
 
 

20 - 22 

Executive Board 
 
Thursday, 1 December 2011 2.00 p.m. 
The Board Room - Municipal Building, 
Widnes 

Public Document Pack



 
 
  
Item Page No 
  

 

4. HEALTH AND ADULTS PORTFOLIO 
 

 

 (A) ‘CARING FOR OUR FUTURE: SHARED AMBITIONS 
FOR CARE AND SUPPORT’ CONSULTATION   

 

23 - 40 

 
 
 
In accordance with the Health and Safety at Work Act the Council is 
required to notify those attending meetings of the fire evacuation 
procedures. A copy has previously been circulated to Members and 
instructions are located in all rooms within the Civic block. 



 
REPORT TO:   Executive Board 
 
DATE:    1 December 2011 
 
REPORTING OFFICER:  Strategic Director, Policy and Resources 
 
TITLE:    Annual Audit Letter 
 
WARDS:    Borough Wide 
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 To present the Annual Audit Letter 2010/11 for approval. 
 
 
2.0 RECOMMENDED:  That the Annual Audit Letter be approved. 
 
 
3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
3.1 The Annual Audit Letter summarises the findings from the 2010/11 

audit completed by the Council’s Audit Commission, the Council’s 
external auditors.  It includes messages arising from the audit of the 
financial statements and the results of the work undertaken in 
assessing the Council’s arrangements to secure value for money in the 
use of its resources. 

3.2 A copy of the 2010/11 Annual Audit Letter is attached to the report.  
Mr Mike Thomas, the District Auditor, will attend the Board to present 
the letter and take questions. 

 
 
4.0 POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 The Council is a publicly funded body and, as such, is required to 

receive and consider annual reports from externally appointed auditors.  
The external audit function makes an important contribution to the 
stewardship of resources and the corporate governance of public 
services. 

 
4.2 The Annual Audit Letter provides an unqualified opinion on the 

Council’s 2010/11 financial statements.  It also provides an unqualified 
conclusion that the Council has adequate arrangements to secure 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

 
4.3 The cost of the external audit for 2010/11 is set out in the Annual Audit 

Letter. 
 
 

Agenda Item 3aPage 1



5.0 OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 None identified. 
 
 
6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES 
 
6.1 Children and Young People in Halton 
6.2 Employment Learning and Skills in Halton 
6.3 A Healthy Halton 
6.4 A Safer Halton 
6.5 Halton’s Urban Renewal 
 
 The economic, efficient and effective use of the Council’s resources is 

a major factor in delivering better and sustainable outcomes for local 
people and therefore contributes to all of the Council’s priorities. 

 
 
7.0 RISK ANALYSIS 
 
7.1 The Annual Audit Letter states that no significant weaknesses were 

identified in the Council’s internal control arrangements.  However, the 
key risks identified through the audit process are reflected in the 
recommendations for improvement made in the report. 

 
 
8.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES 
 
8.1 None identified. 
 
9.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF THE 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 
9.1 None under the meaning of the Act. 
 
 

Page 2



 

Audit Commission Annual Audit Letter 1
 

Annual Audit Letter
Halton Borough Council

Audit 2010/11 

P
a
g
e
 3



 

Audit Commission Annual Audit Letter 2
 

Contents
Key messages..............................................................................................................................................................3

Audit opinion and financial statements...................................................................................................................3

Value for money .....................................................................................................................................................3

Financial statements and annual governance statement ........................................................................................5

Overall conclusion from the audit ...........................................................................................................................5

Annual governance statement................................................................................................................................6

Mersey Gateway Project ........................................................................................................................................6

National fraud initiative (NFI)..................................................................................................................................7

Significant weaknesses in internal control..............................................................................................................7

Value for money...........................................................................................................................................................8

Current and future challenges .................................................................................................................................11

Closing remarks ........................................................................................................................................................13

Appendix 1 – 2010/11Audit Fee................................................................................................................................14

Appendix 2 – Glossary..............................................................................................................................................15
 
 

Traffic light explanation 
Red           Amber           Green 

P
a
g
e
 4



 

Audit Commission Annual Audit Letter 3
 

Key messages 

This report summarises the findings from my 2010/11 audit. My audit comprises two elements:  

  the audit of your financial statements; and

  my assessment of your arrangements to achieve value for money in your use of resources. 

Key audit risk Our findings 

Unqualified audit opinion  

Proper arrangements to secure value for money  

Audit opinion and financial statements 

I issued an unqualified audit opinion on the 2010/11 statements on  

29 September 2011. On the same day I also issued an unqualified 

assurance statement on the Council’s Whole of Government Accounts 

submission. 

This year, for the first time, the Council had to produce its financial 

statements on a new accounting basis, the International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS). The introduction of IFRS was a complex 

and demanding exercise for officers. It required officers to restate 

balances from 1 April 2009 as well as to collect and analyse information 

not recorded or disclosed under the previous accounting regime. This 

resulted in much longer and more detailed published statements. I 

identified several areas where the statements were not fully IFRS 

compliant, and officers actioned my requested amendments.  

Working papers to support the accounts were good. My team received 

excellent cooperation from officers during the audit with full and prompt 

responses to all audit queries.  

Value for money 

The Council has adequate arrangements for ensuring economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. I issued an 

unqualified value for money conclusion on 29 September 2011. 

Like most other public sector organisations the Council faces significant 

financial challenges in 2011/12 and 2012/13. The Council has a proven 

track record of keeping expenditure within budget and securing financial 

resilience. This will continue to be a major challenge during the 

remainder of 2011/12 and beyond. 

The process of identifying saving opportunities to meet the £15 million 

funding gap for 2012/13 is underway but further work is needed to 

ensure a fully identified savings plan is in place for the 2012/13 budget.   

During 2011 the Council and its officers have been proactive in 

engaging with Government to maintain the profile of the Mersey 

Gateway project and to identify and tackle outstanding issues. 

P
a
g
e
 5



 

Audit Commission Annual Audit Letter 4
 

In October 2011, the Council received confirmation of conditional 

funding approval from Government. The annual unitary charge payable 

to the eventual operator of the second Mersey crossing will be partly 

funded by the Government’s availability support grant. The balance will 

be funded by toll revenues. The Council retains the toll revenue risk, a 

key issue for the medium and longer term financial planning of the 

Council. 

Given the scale of this project, and the key risks retained by the 

Council, it is essential that the Council continues to monitor, manage 

and mitigate these risks and considers the impact on its financial and 

operational plans.  

My work on the accounting treatment of development costs related to 

the project is ongoing.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
a
g
e
 6



 

Audit Commission Annual Audit Letter 5
 

Financial statements and 
annual governance statement   
The Council's financial statements and annual governance statement are an important means by 

which the Council accounts for its stewardship of public funds. 

Overall conclusion from the audit 

The Business Efficiency Board approved the Council’s 2010/11 financial statements on 28 September 2011.  I gave an unqualified audit opinion on 

those statements on 29 September 2011. 

The statements were prepared using the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for the first time this year. The introduction of IFRS 

required officers to restate balances from 1 April 2009 as well as to collect and analyse information not recorded or disclosed under the previous 

accounting regime. This placed considerable additional demands on officers’ time. As a result officers took advantage of the additional time provided by 

the changes in the accounts approval process for 2010/11 to prepare the Council’s financial statements. The first version of the statements was 

approved by the Operational Director – Finance on the 30 June deadline and was submitted for audit on 1 July.  

The first version of the statements was incomplete, contained a number of errors and was not fully IFRS compliant. My audit team provided a schedule 

of issues to officers. The second version submitted for audit on 7 July was better presented and more complete.  

A number of amendments were made to the statements following my audit including two material disclosure errors, neither of which impacted upon the 

Council’s reported year financial position. My annual governance report presented to the Business Efficiency Board in September details all 

amendments made during the audit.  I identified two misstatements which the Council decided not to amend in its accounts. One was an overstatement 

of £1.5m on short term debtors and the other related to an understatement of £1.9m on the value of land and buildings on the balance sheet.  The letter 

of representation set out the reasons for not amending the accounts and I was satisfied with the explanations given.  

My audit team received excellent co-operation and support from your finance team. Your officers responded promptly and fully to all audit queries and 

requests for additional information. They also provided good working papers to support entries in the accounts. 

P
a
g
e
 7



 

Audit Commission Annual Audit Letter 6
 

I identified four areas of accounting practice which require strengthening: property, plant and equipment reconciliations; the allocation of expenditure 

between years; estimate methodologies and the detail supporting related party declarations. Officers have agreed my recommendations for 

improvement. 

I completed my audit of the Council’s 2010/11 Whole of Government Accounts (WGA) consolidation pack and issued my assurance statement on  

29 September 2011. As with the Council’s main statements, officers provided a clear audit trail and good working papers to support the WGA pack. 

Annual governance statement 

The Council's Annual Governance Statement meets CIPFA's minimum requirements. The disclosures within it are consistent with the information I am 

aware of from my audit of the financial statements. 

Mersey Gateway Project 

Mersey Gateway is a unique project with high value transactions. It is also a complex accounting area where I have required material changes to 

accounting treatment in previous years. During the year I have had regular discussions with officers about progress and issues relating to Mersey 

Gateway. These discussions are ongoing and are currently focussing on the accounting treatment of development costs and affordability.  

The Council included £821,000 of development costs relating to Mersey Gateway within its 2010/11 accounts. These costs have been accounted for as 

capital expenditure. The costs included in 2010/11 are not material and did not therefore prevent me from giving my audit opinion. But it is likely that the 

costs will be material in 2011/12. The Council has established a development cost budget of £12.37 million to cover the period January 2011 to  

April 2013. It has classified the majority of these costs as capital. The accounting treatment is still under consideration and my audit team are awaiting 

further information on development costs from officers. If more of the expected costs are deemed to be revenue rather than capital in nature it will be a 

further pressure on the Council’s 2011/12 and 2012/13 budgets.  

The Government confirmed funding support for the Mersey Gateway project in October 2010, and planning approval followed in December 2010.  

Despite this, 2011 has been a challenging year for the Council and the project team. It has involved extensive discussions with the Department for 

Transport (DfT) and a considerable amount of work in finalising the Outline Business Case. The Council and its officers have been proactive in 

engaging with DfT to maintain the profile of the project and to identify and tackle outstanding issues. 

The Council received written confirmation of conditional funding approval for the project in October 2011, which triggered the start of the formal 

procurement process. The annual unitary charge payable to the operator will be partly funded by the Government’s availability support grant, with the 

balance funded by toll revenues. The Council retains the toll revenue risk, which is key element of the affordability of the project. It is therefore 

important for the Council to monitor and mitigate this risk during the procurement phase, and ultimately to decide whether the residual risk to the 

Council is acceptable. The Council has already identified the need to develop a post contract close structure to manage its ongoing risks and 

responsibilities, and it will need to continue to develop these arrangements during the procurement phase. 

P
a
g
e
 8



 

Audit Commission Annual Audit Letter 7
 

I will continue to monitor progress on the project and review project arrangements in 2011/12. I will liaise with Internal Audit and place reliance on their 

work where possible to avoid duplication of effort. 

National fraud initiative (NFI)
The Council is a proactive participant in the national fraud initiative (NFI). The NFI is a data matching exercise run by the Audit Commission. It 

compares information held by different organisations and within organisations to identify potentially fraudulent claims and overpayments. The Council 

received 27,859 National Fraud Initiative (NFI) 2010/11 matches in January 2011, the majority of which were marked as high priority. The Council has 

identified £8,126 of fraud and error so far and is recovering £7,109. The Council is continuing to review and investigate its remaining NFI matches.  

Significant weaknesses in internal control

I did not identify any significant weaknesses in your internal control arrangements.  

 P
a
g
e
 9



 

Audit Commission Annual Audit Letter 8
 

Value for money 

I considered whether the Council is managing and using its money, time and people to deliver 

value for money.  I assessed your performance against the criteria specified by the Audit 

Commission and have reported the outcome as the value for money (VFM) conclusion. 

I assess your arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in your use of resources against two criteria specified by the  

Audit Commission. My overall conclusion is that the Council has adequate arrangements to secure, economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 

resources.  

My conclusion on each of the two areas is set out below. 

Value for money criteria and key messages 

Criterion Key messages 

1. Financial resilience  

The organisation has proper arrangements in 

place to secure financial resilience.

Focus for 2010/11:  

The organisation has robust systems and 

processes to manage effectively financial risks 

and opportunities, and to secure a stable 

financial position that enables it to continue to 

operate for the foreseeable future. 

 

General fund expenditure is managed well across the Council, with recognition that managing 

spending and securing a stable financial position is not simply a finance function but is an integral 

part of effective performance management. Systems and processes are well established but also 

continue to change and develop to suit changing circumstances. 

The Council once again managed its spending within its revenue budget in 2010/11. General fund 

balances at 31 March 2011 totalled £7.367 million, just over 6.5 per cent of net expenditure. 

There is scope for officers to revisit the Council’s reserves and balances strategy to more 

explicitly link the planned level of balances to an assessment of the potential risks that could 

result in a call on those balances.   

In common with other local authorities, the Council is facing significant financial pressures. The 

Council sets its annual budget in the context of a medium term financial strategy (MTFS) which 

covers a three year period.  The MTFS 2011/12 to 2013/14 was produced in November 2010. 

P
a
g
e
 1

0



 

Audit Commission Annual Audit Letter 9
 

Criterion Key messages 

This identified a potential funding gap of £48 million over the three year period. For 2011/12, the 

first year covered by the MTFS, the Council has set a balanced budget which includes savings of 

£13.853 million. Second quarter monitoring reports indicate the Council is largely on track to 

achieve its budget but in year pressures may still present challenges along the way. Close control 

and monitoring of spend is required through the remainder of the year to minimise the risk of a 

budget overspend at the end of March 2012. 

The funding gaps for 2012/13 and 2013/14 are even more challenging. In 2012/13 the Council 

has set a savings target of £15 million to bridge the gap and enable it to continue to set a 

balanced budget. The Budget Working Group (BWG) for 2012/13 held its first meeting on  

24 March 2011, several months earlier than in previous years and an acknowledgement of the 

work needed to secure continued financial balance. To date savings of just under £10 million 

have been identified with work ongoing to ensure a full and detailed savings plan is in place to 

support the 2012/13 budget. 

One very significant issue for the Council in terms of ongoing financial resilience is Mersey 

Gateway project. As reported earlier in this letter, it is a hugely complex and costly project which 

will have long term financial implications for the Council. The Council will need to continue to 

review and manage the risks and costs of the project to ensure its affordability. I am currently 

awaiting further information from Council officers before concluding on the proposed accounting 

treatment of the development costs associated with Mersey Gateway. The outcome of this may 

impact upon the Council’s financial position in 2011/12 and 2012/13. 

2. Securing economy efficiency and 

effectiveness

The organisation has proper arrangements 

for challenging how it secures economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness. 

Focus for 2010/11:  

The organisation is prioritising its resources 

within tighter budgets, for example by achieving 

cost reductions and by improving efficiency and 

productivity. 

The Council challenges itself to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness. A strategic 

approach to reducing costs and improving value for money is evident through the Council’s 

efficiency programme and budget setting process. Members continue to offer supportive 

challenge through the Budget Working Group to identify and review proposals to achieve savings 

and efficiencies. 

 

 

 

P
a
g
e
 1

1



 

Audit Commission Annual Audit Letter 10
 

Criterion Key messages 

The revised structures for transactional support services such as finance, HR, administration and 

procurement are in place and have resulted in cost savings and some improved process 

arrangements. The revised management structure, moving from four to three directorates, came 

into operation with effect from 1 April 2011. The Council is addressing areas of high spend 

through the efficiency review programme. A new corporate charging framework is now in place 

and an efficiency review of income and charging is also underway.   

Much strengthened and improved procurement arrangements have been established via a centre 

of excellence. Procurement is now considered a key mechanism for delivering the efficiency 

programme and efficiencies in general across the Council. 

Like much of the public sector, Halton has considerable financial challenges ahead. The Council’s 

structured approach to planning, the budget processes in place and the track record of savings 

achieved to date all place the Council in a good position to respond to these challenges. 

P
a
g
e
 1

2



 

Audit Commission Annual Audit Letter 11
 

Current and future challenges 

  

Economic downturn and pressure on the 

public sector 

The current economic climate continues to place significant pressure on public sector bodies to generate 

efficiencies and work within reduced resources. The Council managed these pressures in 2010/11 but 

faces even more significant challenges over the next few years. 

As part of its 2011/12 budget the Council approved a savings plan of £13.853 million. The most recent 

iteration of the MTFS covering the three year period 2012/13 to 2014/15 indicates the need for the 

Council to make further significant savings over the period. Revenue savings of up to £15 million,  

£13 million and £11 million are required over the next three years. The Council has a structured 

approach and framework in place to identify and manage budget pressures but these will be tested as 

the Council seeks to meet its financial and service objectives. 

Mersey Gateway My letter has already commented on the Mersey Gateway project. However a review of current and 

future challenges for the Council would not be complete without mentioning it again. As members and 

officers have acknowledged, it is a huge project for an organisation of Halton’s size and the risks 

associated with it will continue for the foreseeable future. 

Capacity  At the start of the 2011/12 financial year, and as part of its efficiency programme, the Council moved 

from a four to three directorate structure. At the same time a number of staff left the organisation through 

redundancy and/or early retirement. This loss of corporate knowledge and a reduced headcount at a time 

of significant organisational change and external challenge means capacity is stretched. The Council is 

aware of this and is committed to ensuring any associated risks are mitigated wherever possible.  

Joint arrangements and Health Partnerships The Council has engaged in a number of successful joint arrangements with local Health Bodies.  The 

National Health Service is about to undergo one of the most significant changes in its history. This will 

present many challenges to the Council as it aligns Council objectives and ways of working with those of 

the new Health Bodies. The changes will also present opportunities for the Council as it takes on new 

responsibilities and as Commissioning Groups are given more opportunity to shape local services. 

 

P
a
g
e
 1

3



 

Audit Commission Annual Audit Letter 12
 

  

Income streams The Government is consulting on a change to the National Business Rates scheme. It is proposing to 

end the current pooling and redistribution of Business Rate income from April 2013 thereafter councils 

will retain the Business Rate income collected locally. This will be supplemented by a system of fixed 

top-ups and tariffs. In addition the Government is looking at ways to enable councils to borrow against 

future Business Rate income.  This will be a significant change for Halton Council and many authorities 

in the North-West.  

P
a
g
e
 1

4



 

Audit Commission Annual Audit Letter 13
 

Closing remarks 
I have discussed and agreed this letter with the Chief Executive and the Operational Director Finance. I will present this letter at the Executive Board on 

1 December 2011 and will provide copies to all Council members. 

Further detailed findings, conclusions and recommendations in the areas covered by our audit are included in the reports issued to the Council during 

the year. 

 

Report Date issued 

Audit fee letter 19 April 2010 

Opinion audit plan 19 January 2011 

Annual governance report  28 September 2011 

Audit opinion on the 2010/11 financial statements, value for money conclusion and audit certificate 29 September 2011 

Assurance statement on the Whole of Government Accounts (WGA) consolidation pack 29 September 2011 

Annual audit letter 14 November 2011 

 
The Council has taken a positive and constructive approach to our audit. I wish to thank the Council staff for their continued support and co-operation 
during the audit. 

Mike Thomas 

District Auditor 

November 2011 

P
a
g
e
 1

5



 

Audit Commission Annual Audit Letter 14
 

Appendix 1 – 2010/11Audit Fee  

Actual Proposed Variance

Financial statements, including WGA £197,749 £197,749 £0 

VFM conclusion £60,256 £60,256 £0 

Total audit fee £258,005 £258,005 £0

Audit Commission rebates* 

  IFRS implementation 

  VFM  

 

£(16,116) 

£(9,463) 

  

£(16,116) 

£(9,463) 

Net audit fee £232,426 £258,005 £ (25,579) – total rebate from 

the Audit Commission 

Certification of grant claims  Audit not yet complete £67,746 Audit not yet complete 

 

* The Audit Commission rebated £16,116 in April 2010 to subsidise the’one-off’ element of the cost of the transition to IFRS for local authorities. It also 

issued a further rebate of £9,463 in 2011 for the change in approach to vfm work from 2010/11. 

 

P
a
g
e
 1

6



 

Audit Commission Annual Audit Letter 15
 

Appendix 2 – Glossary       
Annual governance statement

Governance is about how local government bodies ensure that they are doing the right things, in the right way, for the right people, in a timely, 

inclusive, open, honest and accountable manner. 

It comprises the systems and processes, cultures and values, by which local government bodies are directed and controlled and through which they 

account to, engage with and where appropriate, lead their communities.  

The annual governance statement is a public report by the Council on the extent to which it complies with its own local governance code, including how 

it has monitored the effectiveness of its governance arrangements in the year, and on any planned changes in the coming period. 

Audit opinion

On completion of the audit of the financial statements, I must give my opinion on the financial statements, including:  

  whether they give a true and fair view of the financial position of the audited body and its spending and income for the year in question; and  

  whether they have been prepared properly, following the relevant accounting rules.   

Opinion

If I agree that the financial statements give a true and fair view, I issue an unqualified opinion. I issue a qualified opinion if: 

  I find the statements do not give a true and fair view; or 

  I cannot confirm that the statements give a true and fair view. 

Value for money conclusion 

The auditor’s conclusion on whether the audited body has put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its 

use of resources based on criteria specified by the Audit Commission.  

If I find that the audited body had adequate arrangements, I issue an unqualified conclusion. If I find that it did not, I issue a qualified conclusion. 

 

P
a
g
e
 1

7



 

Audit Commission Annual Audit Letter 16
 

Whole of government accounts 

The Whole of Government Accounts (WGA) is a consolidated set of financial statements for the UK public sector. It consolidates around 1,500 bodies, 

including central government departments, local authorities, devolved administrations, the health service, and public corporations. It is similar in 

presentation to private sector accounts.  

The aim of WGA is to enable Parliament and the public better to understand and scrutinise how taxpayers’ money is spent.  By presenting the public 

finances in a framework familiar to the commercial and accountancy professions, WGA increases transparency and accessibility of information about 

public finances.  

P
a
g
e
 1

8



 
 

If you require a copy of this document in an alternative format or in a language other than English, please call:  
0844 798 7070 

© Audit Commission 2011. 

Design and production by the Audit Commission Publishing Team. 

Image copyright © Audit Commission. 

 

The Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies issued by the Audit Commission explains the respective responsibilities of auditors 

and of the audited body. Reports prepared by appointed auditors are addressed to non-executive directors, members or officers. They are prepared for 

the sole use of the audited body. Auditors accept no responsibility to: 

  any director/member or officer in their individual capacity; or  

  any third party.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

www.audit-commission.gov.uk         November 2011 

P
a
g
e
 1

9



REPORT TO: Executive Board 
 
DATE: 1st December 2011  
 
REPORTING OFFICER: Operational Director – Finance 
                                              
SUBJECT: Determination of Council Tax Base 
 
WARD(S): Borough-wide 
 
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1  There is a requirement for the Council to determine the ‘Tax Base’ for its 

area and also the tax base for each of the Parishes.  
  
1.2  It is required to notify the figure to the Cheshire Fire Authority, the 

Cheshire Police Authority and the Environment Agency by 31st January 
2012.  The Council is also required to calculate and advise if requested, 
the Parish Councils of their relevant tax bases. 

 
 
2.0 RECOMMENDED: That  
 

(1) The Executive Board recommend to the Council that the 
2012/13 Council Tax Base be set at 38,200 for the Borough, 
and that the Cheshire Fire Authority, the Cheshire Police 
Authority, and the Environment Agency be so notified; and 

 
(2) The Executive Board recommend to the Council that the 

Council Tax Base for each of the Parishes be set as follows: 
 

Parish Tax Base 
  

Hale 729 
Halebank 590 
Daresbury 146 
Moore 345 
Preston Brook 347 
Sandymoor 985 

 
3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 

 
  3.1   The Tax Base 
 
 The ‘Tax Base’ is the measure used for calculating the council tax and 

is used by both the billing authority (the Council) and the major 
precepting authorities (the Cheshire Fire Authority and the Cheshire 
Police Authority), in the calculation of their council tax requirements.  

Agenda Item 3bPage 20



           
 The tax base figure is arrived at in accordance with a prescribed 

formula, and represents the estimated full year number of chargeable 
dwellings in the Borough, expressed in terms of the equivalent of Band 
‘D’ dwellings.  

 
3.2 The Council Tax Base for 2012/13 
 
 The tax base is calculated using the number of dwellings included in 

the Valuation List, as provided by the Listing Officer, as at 12th 
September 2011.  Adjustments are then made to take into account the 
estimated number of discounts, voids, additions and demolitions during 
the period 12th September 2011 to 31st March 2012. 

 
 An estimated percentage collection rate is then applied to the product 

of the above calculation to arrive at the tax base for the year. 
 
 Taking account of all the relevant information and applying a 99% 

collection rate, the calculation for 2012/13 gives a tax base figure of 
38,200 for the Borough as a whole. 

 
 The appropriate tax base figure for each of the Parishes is as follows: 
 

Parish Tax Base 
  

Hale 729 
Halebank 590 
Daresbury 146 
Moore 345 
Preston Brook 347 
Sandymoor 985 

 
 
4.0 POLICY AND OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 

4.1 There are no direct policy or other implications arising from this report. 
 
5.0      IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES 
 
5.1      Children and Young People in Halton  

 
There are no direct implications arising from this report 
 

5.2      Employment, Learning and Skills in Halton 
            

There are no direct implications arising from this report 
 
 
5.3      A Healthy Halton 
 

Page 21



There are no direct implications arising from this report 
 
5.4       A Safer Halton  
 

There are no direct implications arising from this report 
 
5.5       Halton’s Urban Renewal 
 

There are no direct implications arising from this report 
 
6.0 RISK ANALYSIS 
 
6.1      Loss of income to the Council if Council Tax Base not agreed. 
 
7.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES 
 
7.1      There are no direct implications arising from this report 
 
 
8.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D 
 OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 

 Document Place of Inspection Contact Officer 
 Working Papers Kingsway House P. McCann 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 22



REPORT TO: 
 

Executive Board 

DATE: 
 

1st December 2011 

REPORTING OFFICER: 
 

Strategic Director - Communities  
 

SUBJECT: 
 

‘Caring for our Future: Shared ambitions for 
care and support’ Consultation 
 

WARD(S) 
 

Borough-wide 

 
 

1.0 
 

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1  
 
 

To provide the Board with an overview of the Government’s Caring 
for our Future: Shared ambitions for care and support consultation 
document and proposed response. 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That the Board: 
    
i) Note contents of the report; and 

 
ii) Agree the consultation response on behalf of the 

Borough Council (Appendix 1) 
 

3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 

3.1 On 15 September 2011, the Government launched Caring for our 
Future: Shared ambitions for care and support – an engagement 
with people who use care and support services, carers, local 
councils, care providers, and the voluntary sector about the priorities 
for improving care and support. 
 

3.2 Caring for our Future is an opportunity to bring together the 
recommendations from :- 
 

• The Law Commission (published in May 2011) : The 
Commission report said that adult social care law is outdated 
and confusing, making it difficult for people who need care 
and support, their carers and local authorities to know what 
they are entitled to. It recommended bringing together all the 
different elements of social care law into a single, modern, 
adult social care statute.  

 
• The Commission on the Funding of Care and Support 

(published in July 2011): The Commission recommended that 
the amount that people have to spend on care over their 
lifetimes should be capped, although people in care homes 
should continue to pay a contribution towards their living 
costs. The Commission also recommended that the current 
system of means-tested support should be extended, so that 

Agenda Item 4aPage 23



 

more people can get additional help in paying for care. 
 

• The Government's Vision for Adult Social Care (published in 
November 2010) 

 
3.3 The recommendations from these Commissions etc will be used as 

a basis for exploring what the priorities for reform should be and the 
Board are invited to comment on the consultation to inform these 
future discussions. 
 

3.4 The Government have identified six areas where they believe there 
is the biggest potential to make improvements to the care and 
support system, as follows:- 
 
3.4.1 Improving quality and developing the workforce 
How can the quality of care be improved and how can the workforce 
be developed in order to do this? 
 
3.4.2 Increased personalisation and choice 
How can people be given more choice and control over the care and 
support they use and help make informed decisions? 
 
3.4.3 Ensuring services are better integrated around people’s 
needs 
How can better connections be built locally between the NHS and 
other care services? 
 
3.4.4 Supporting greater prevention and early intervention 
How can more effective prevention and early intervention support be 
given to keep people independent and in good health? 
 
3.4.5 Creating a more diverse and responsive care market 
How can we ensure that there is a wide range of organisations that 
provide innovative and responsive care services? 
 
3.4.6 The role of the financial services sector in supporting 
users, carers and their families 
What role can the financial services sector play in supporting care 
users, carers and their families? 
 

3.5 
 

As part of Caring for our Future, the Government also want to hear 
people’s views on the recommendations made by the Commission 
on Funding of Care and Support and how these proposals should be 
assessed, including in relation to other potential priorities for 
improvement. The Commission’s recommendations present a range 
of options, including on the level of a cap and the contribution that 
people make to living costs in residential care, which could help to 
manage the system and its costs.  
 

3.6 As this is such an important issue for the Local Authority and its 
partners, in relation to the future provision of Adult Social Care, 
Halton wish to submit a local response to the consultation exercise 

Page 24



 

and as such staff from Halton Borough Council, Key Health 
Stakeholders (5 Borough Partnership, Hospitals, PCT and Public 
Health), Domiciliary Care and Residential Care providers and 
Registered Housing Providers were invited to comment on the 
consultation questions.  
 
Opportunities have also been taken to raise the consultation with 
partners during events/meetings that were already scheduled e.g. 
Health Partnership Board held on 13th October, Health Policy and 
Performance Board 8th November and the Developing Older 
People’s Services Event on 23rd November 2011. 
 
A list of the consultation questions, along with proposed responses 
can be found in Appendix 1 
 

3.6 The engagement exercise will run until early December, but the 
Government are asking for written comments as early as possible in 
order to inform discussions. The deadline for written comments is 
2nd December 2011 
 

3.7 
 
 
 
3.8 

The discussion will inform a Government White Paper on Social 
Care reform and a progress report on Funding Reform that will be 
published in Spring 2012. 
 
Further details regarding the engagement exercise can be found on 
the DoH Website at the following link: 
 
http://caringforourfuture.dh.gov.uk/ 
 
The Commission on Funding of Care and Support report can be 
found at : 
 
http://www.dilnotcommission.dh.gov.uk/our-report/ 
 

4.0 
 

POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 
 

Whilst the detail of the implications for the Local Authority will not be 
known until the White Paper is published, it can be assumed that 
there will be a number of potentially significant implications for the 
Council. 
 

4.2 In particular, HealthWatch may have a role in supporting people to 
have more choice and control over the care and support they use by 
providing help to make informed decisions, ensuring services are 
better integrated around people’s needs and improving quality 
through HealthWatch’s role in gathering information and submitting 
recommendation reports. 
 

4.3 The Health and Wellbeing Board and Clinical Commissioning 
Groups will have a role to play in supporting any changes that are 
identified in the forthcoming White Paper, with the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment identifying where prevention measures could be 

Page 25



 

put in place. 
 

5.0 OTHER/FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

5.1 Until the White Paper is published it is not possible to identify 
specific financial implications, however making changes to the 
funding system for care and support, as discussed in the 
Commission on Funding of Care and Support’s report, would impact 
on all aspects of the care and support system.  
 

5.2 The financial implications of the White Paper will need to be 
considered along side competing priorities in the current financial 
climate. These implications may be come clearer with the progress 
report on Funding Reform due in Spring 2012. 
 

5.3 One of the recommendations contained within the Law Commission 
report published in May 2011, was a recommendation concerned 
with ‘building a single, streamlined assessment and eligibility 
framework’, which would lead to the potential of significant financial 
and resource implications for not only Halton but nationally.    
 

5.4 Other potential implications may include: 
 

• Greater role for commissioners in developing the care and 
support market in order to meet diverse and increasing 
needs. 

• De-commissioning of existing services. 

• Relationship building/management locally between the NHS 
and other care services – in a time where there is a lot of 
organisational change in all sectors. 

• Establishing relationships with financial services in supporting 
care users, carers and their families – demystifying the 
financial support sector. 

• Impact on social care staff in terms of their training, 
development and registration requirements 

• Impact on the Complaints process and quality of information 

• Greater emphasis on the work associated with early 
intervention and prevention (i.e. Team around the Family 
approach) 

• Impact on the role of the Local HealthWatch, Health and 
Wellbeing Board and Clinical Commissioning Group in terms 
of supporting any changes that are identified in the 
forthcoming White Paper, as a result of this consultation. 

 
6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES 

 

6.1 Children & Young People in Halton  
The consultation is only concerned with Adult Social Care 
 

6.2 Employment, Learning & Skills in Halton  
There may be employment opportunities developed as a result of 
developing the care and support services market to meet increased 

Page 26



 

and diverse needs. This may also impact on workforce 
development. 
 

6.3 A Healthy Halton 
Any changes as a result of the consultation will impact directly on 
the health and wellbeing of Halton residents in how they access care 
and support services and what services are to be made available. 
 

6.4 A Safer Halton  
The consultation does not impact on community safety 
 

6.5 Environment and Regeneration in Halton 
Depending on the outcome of the consultation the impact on urban 
renewal is not yet known. Physical outlets for delivery of care and 
support services may need to be adapted, increased etc 
 

7.0 RISK ANALYSIS 
 

7.1 
 
 
 

Until the White Paper is published it is not possible to identify 
specific risks at this time. However, with any significant changes to 
care and support appropriate risk and impact assessments will need 
to be undertaken as part of any change. 
 

8.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES 
 

8.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) is not required for this report 
 

9.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF 
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 

Document 
 

Place of Inspection 
 

Contact 
Officer 

Caring for our 
future: shared 
ambitions for care 
and support 

http://caringforourfuture.dh.gov.uk/ 
 

Louise 
Wilson 

The Commission 
on Funding of 
Care and Support 
report 

http://www.dilnotcommission.dh.gov.uk/our-
report/ 
 

Louise 
Wilson 

 
 

Page 27



 

 
Appendix 1 

 
Consultation Questions and Draft Response 
 
1. What are the priorities for promoting improved quality and developing 
the future workforce?  
 
The whole area of workforce is a critical and priority area in order to ensure 
that the Adult Social Care agenda is achieved. It is essential that the Social 
Care sector has in place a workforce which is confident, appropriately trained, 
qualified and empowered. To address these key issues successfully a 
workforce strategy needs to be implemented at local, regional and national 
levels which underpins and interlinks with overall local, regional and national 
Adult Social Care Strategic Objectives – it can’t stand alone or be seen as a 
separate entity. 
 
An effective workforce strategy should address such key areas as: 

• Workforce data  

• Workforce re-design  

• An autonomous workforce  

• Providing learning, qualifications and standards  

• Having in place a recruitment and retention policy  

• Having strong leadership & management.   
 
Issues and barriers that the sector may need to overcome in this area are: 

• Smaller state sector and public funding gap in adult social care  

• Imbalance between supply & demand  

• Social care characteristics of the workforce  

• Recruitment & retention  

• Sector complexity & uncertainty 

• There is a need to engage with the workforce, involving the workforce         
to identify what is required at a local level.  

 
Integrated training and continuous development through skill acquisition and 
evaluation is also key. Consideration could be given to accreditation type 
routes for social care sector staff. A leadership Coaching/Mentoring national 
programme, national guidance on standards of training, regulation / 
supervision of practice etc may also be beneficial. There is a strong 
correlation between an effective, skilled and knowledgeable workforce with 
that of providing (and maintaining) and improving the level of quality of care. 
 
A standard definition of quality is easy to achieve as a high level statement 
e.g. promotion of social inclusion, treated with dignity and respect, promoting 
choice and opportunity. However, this can mean different things to different 
people so at a micro level it would be extremely important to have a range of 
quality indicators to ensure that quality is appropriately measured. 
 
If there is an agreed national standard of quality there should be use of 
evidence to support this to use in developing policies and approaches locally.  
It needs to be recognised that this is not a one size fits all situation.  There 

Page 28



 

needs to be local accountability, community involvement and engagement in 
order to implement successful local solutions which are tailored to address the 
different needs of our diverse community.  The key challenge would be to 
bring all community assets together in order to address the different needs of 
our diverse community.   
 
The overarching ambitions should be communicated at a National level, 
however, it is important that local professionals and practitioners have the 
opportunity to utilise their own local skills and knowledge to deliver the most 
effective service for their population.  
 
Health and Social Care has traditionally performed to agreed frameworks or 
best practice guidelines and it could be argued that this methodology has 
been successful. However, there is a direct correlation between both output 
and outcome measures and quality frameworks. As the Government removes 
large numbers of previous targets there has to be an understanding that this 
could create difficulties in working toward a quality framework as you would 
not have the required measures in place to prove effectiveness.  
 
Definitions of quality need to be driven by the individual care plan or 
assessment of need and what the individual wants to achieve and not what 
the service would want to achieve. The standards would need to be flexible 
and understandable enough for a person to be able to apply them themselves 
and would need to give examples of essentials on what was required to meet 
the standard.  Individuals may require support to enable and empower them to 
set the standards for their own care.   
 
The recent Select Committee Report on CQC Accountability identified 
concerns raised over the lack of inspections during the 2010-11 period. The 
balance between registration and compliance activity was found to be unequal 
and prioritised poorly. How will a standard definition of quality be assessed? 
The impact of a less well monitored system on quality, reliability and 
safeguarding needs to be further considered. 
 
In respect to achieving improved outcomes individuals need to be much better 
informed than they are currently, to allow them initially to make the right 
decision about the types of care and who provides it, but consequently to 
enable them to assess the quality of the service they are receiving. Social 
marketing could be used to inform and change people’s expectations of what 
they will receive from social care and how they can influence this.   
 
This is important when considering the need for quality measures and some 
form of audit because if the market changes significantly to allow people to 
commission their own services there is a need to ensure that there are 
controls in place to support their decisions.  
 
Localities should strengthen their role in ensuring the ‘market’ has agencies 
and structures in place to ensure what’s available is of a high quality. Citizens 
and users need to be central to the development of these processes at a local 
level. 
 

Page 29



 

There is value in recognising preventative (non-statutory) services in 
delivering quality services and the savings they generate for statutory services 
in national spending plans and initiatives such as community budgeting. 
 
Who is responsible for driving forward continuous quality improvement 
depends on local integration and partnership working, but if there is an 
overriding quality framework that is agreed by all partners then responsibility 
and accountability could be agreed at a local level. Health and Well-being 
boards and associated sub-structures should have a role to play in quality 
improvement. 
 
We need to increase the use of a variety of mechanisms to capture user 
experience of quality through technology, questionnaires, groups, use of 
reviews, user forums etc and maximise the role of Local Involvement 
Networks/Local HealthWatch. 
 
There needs to be an easy and transparent method of feedback that also 
allows for a speedy response. By utilising technology we could easily build 
systems that allow people to offer their opinions on a service prior to it 
becoming a full complaint. This would help relationships between 
professionals and the public, but would also improve the complaints service. A 
system like Patient opinion could offer that type of service that could feed 
directly to commissioners or service managers.  
 
2. What are the priorities for promoting increased personalisation and 
choice?  
 
Halton is committed to the principle that the personalisation agenda is a 
platform for the future way that services are designed, orientated and 
delivered. However there has to be a greater acknowledgement that 
personalisation, personal budgets etc will be a positive for some people, but 
not all and it does feel like the expectation is that it works for everyone. For 
example there needs to be urgent dialogue or review of how self directed 
support is being delivered when supporting older people. The numbers of 
older people receiving adult social care services far outweigh other age 
groups, yet the numbers in receipt of direct payments is extremely small - this 
appears to suggest that something is not working within the current systems. 
It’s not about making the system easier it is about understanding if the system 
is right for an individual. There has been an accepted thought process that 
personalisation is the way forward for all, however, there is evidence to say 
that this isn’t the case and that for some people traditionally commissioned 
services are far more effective in delivering the care and support they require. 
Traditionally commissioned services can still be the appropriate route for 
many people, but only if there is enough intelligence and evidence to support 
the decision to commission.  
 
There are many people who have criticised Councils for their commissioning 
approaches and style, however there are many examples where Councils 
have managed to perform well in ‘managing the market’ and Councils have 
been able to introduce robust mechanisms to commission services. 
Personalisation is a rapidly expanding market as councils seek to meet the 
Government target of increasing personalisation to all eligible adult social care 

Page 30



 

clients by April 2013. This new dynamic will have significant implications upon 
how councils undertake commissioning on behalf of local communities. It is 
believed that self directed support is beginning to fragment this market and 
Councils are finding it more difficult to manage the market (will the market be 
able to cope with these fast moving changes?) and it is conceivable that in the 
future extra resources may be required to monitor the quality, safeguarding, 
effectiveness and efficiency of self directed services. What will this mean for 
financial and budgetary control? 
 
In terms of the impact on the dynamics of the market, users need to see a 
visible change in the level of choice and control they can exercise. However it 
must be noted that generally what people who receive social care want are 
high quality responsive services that treat them as adults with skills and 
abilities and promote their independence, dignity and respect. Focusing on 
these areas with the social care workforce will improve the quality of service 
provision rather than thinking there is a wide market out there so users can 
pick and choose and change if it doesn’t meet their needs and therefore this 
drives up quality. 
 
The use of direct payments for residential care is welcomed to improve choice 
and control, however, locally it is the most frail elderly people who enter 
residential and nursing care and it is debateable whether this path would be 
appropriate.  The focus needs to remain on improving personalisation within 
the home and ensuring that people remain in control of their environment and 
the support that they receive.  The potential could be that the choice people 
would have may be used to drive up standards locally as a more competitive 
market is opened up.  
 
If the residential care is viewed as their normal place of residence, it should be 
treated as the person in their own home, with a similar range of choices and 
opportunities, including any payments, which should improve quality of life 
and outcome for people.  This range of choice and options may not be 
sustainable for some residential care home providers or social care providers. 
It is difficult to assess the risks of this, there is some evidence that this has 
been successful in other areas for example an extra care scheme in Chorley, 
but there is no evidence of how this would work in a more deprived area like 
Halton. There might be some concerns over how an individual with complex 
health needs would be able to manage the process of direct payments etc.  
 

Commissioners will need to think more creatively about how information is 
provided, each provider offers some form of specialist information, but this 
needs to be considered alongside with the risk of duplicating the more generic 
provision. Low-level support services need to co-ordinate their pathways to 
understand when their service stops and a partners service begins.  
 
For the majority of users, support or information to become informed users is 
achieved through personal relationship development with the people 
supporting them to make choices – this can be family, friends and / or 
assessment / brokerage staff. The Halton Bridge Builders / Sure Start to Later 
Life model is based on this. 
 

Page 31



 

With the implementation of Local HealthWatch, in 2012, individuals will have 
access to support to make informed choices about health and social care 
services. However, there is a need to continue to develop the range of 
avenues through which people can access a support including advocacy, 
brokerage, support and information on their locality and services. 
 
There needs to be consideration to support sector based quality assurance 
systems. The value of local self-help/peer-support and advocacy groups, 
advice agencies needs to be recognised.    For vulnerable & disadvantaged 
people - recognise need for funding for user led organisations, peer-support 
and advocacy groups and for advice agencies. 
 
People, especially older people, use their direct payments to purchase care 
services either from the regulated sector or the non-regulated sector of 
personal assistants, family, friends and neighbours, or self-employed 
individual care assistants. Whilst it is accepted there can be benefits in 
services being non-regulated it also creates a fragmented system where the 
powers to protect are weakened. Unfortunately there are already many 
examples of older people been exploited by the people who are providing that 
care, including many examples where older people have been referred to 
Safeguarding teams within Local Councils.  In addition the ‘employment’ of 
people to support the needs of older people has lead to some older people 
being challenged through the judicial systems. Whilst it can be accepted that 
Councils could be doing more to advise older people, the two tier employment 
and non regulation system has lead to increasing numbers of older people at 
risk and we believe it will continue to do so. 
 
Further work needs to be done on Performance Systems. There is a belief 
that direct payments are inconsistently applied across organisations and that 
many Councils are adopting different performance systems to count people 
accessing direct payments, for examples some Councils are not counting 
older people who are ‘virtual’ direct payment recipients whilst others do count 
them. This inconsistent approach is making it difficult to benchmark and 
measure accurately the performance nationally.  
 
Major change and information programmes are required to inform the 
workforce about the benefits and opportunities of personalisation. This should 
be supported by a change in culture, behaviour and attitude by recruiting, 
appraising and training for the particular attitudes and behaviours required.   
 
There is a need to embed workforce redesign and workforce innovation in 
practice and organisational culture.  More focus is required on encouraging 
innovative and creative ways of working i.e. with assistive technology and 
developing joint working with other sectors to support integrated solutions to 
service delivery and workforce development. 
 
3. How can we take advantage of the Health and Social Care 
modernisation programme to ensure services are better integrated 
around people’s needs?  
 
Due to the current proposed changes within Health and the significant 
resource implications facing social care it is extremely difficult for 

Page 32



 

organisations to operate in an integrated way. Loss of personnel and too 
much focus on managing challenging budgets will inevitably lead to 
organisations looking inward rather than outward. This will only change when 
social care funding levels are appropriate to the needs of the population. 
 
Any care pathway that crosses between health and social care should be 
integrated.  Usually this is around long-term, chronic or complex conditions, 
but should apply to children’s, older people, learning difficulties, long term 
conditions, challenging families and mental health, especially dementia. The 
focus should be on pathways of care rather than organisational integration. 
Whilst this is complex – development around pathways of complex care is 
progressing. However, there will be a need to address the issue of information 
systems and data sharing.  Clear objectives should be stated by all involved to 
reduce any concerns.  
 
Different funding streams and eligibility criteria means that integration can 
break down when one service changes the funding or eligibility. If teams are 
integrated then the funding needs to be integrated or merged too. 
 
Strong strategic leadership in the locality from the respective organisations is 
required. The Health and Wellbeing Board and sub structure will have a role in 
integrating Health and Social Care with clearly defined projects and authority 
to make decisions and implement them. 
 
Integrated services with agreed, shared objectives, shared information and a 
joint delivery of care should include care being designed and delivered around 
the person and family and/or carers.  Learning should be taken from existing 
integrated pathways of support, such as ‘team around the family’ in Children’s 
services and other local community Multi Disciplinary Teams which 
encompasses support to the structures and networks in peoples lives and 
promoting their development – this therefore includes meeting ‘high’ level 
needs as well as education, development, skills, cohesion and support around 
accessing the locality, problem solving etc. 
 
A local example of a person-centred service that met the needs of the 
individual in a timely and integrated way is the Halton Intermediate Care 
service. This offers an integrated service aimed at reducing hospital, 
residential and nursing admissions, as well as improving the access to 
rehabilitative services.  
 
There needs to be dissemination of good practice and evidence that person 
centred, integrated services will improve the ‘customer journey’.  
 
Integrated services can reduce duplication and multiple assessments.  We 
need to develop champions within services to lead the integration and identify 
barriers locally. Ensure collaborative working and co production of materials 
with people who access services to ensure effective handover of a person’s 
care from one part of the system to another. Transition is a key part of 
integrated services, there are potential risks with service users being ‘lost’ to 
services during this process and the need to ensure that all stakeholders are 
offering joined up services is vital.  
 

Page 33



 

This can link back to information provision as often the difficulty for the public 
as well as professionals is how they ‘navigate’ the health and social care 
system. In some areas the need for specialist support has been identified, for 
example Dementia Care Advisors, to bridge the gap from clinical diagnosis 
and community or social care support.  
 
There is enough academic and practical evidence to support the case for 
integrated services, however, there is a need for clarity on expected outcomes 
and associated criteria. This can be extremely problematic in some low-level 
services or information providers as service users often stick to one service 
they trust. Clear performance indicators are required to ensure compliance.  
Pilot sites for particular areas of work could be developed and an offer of 
support from Government.   
 
There are lots of examples of innovation in services. In respect to care 
elements there needs to be recognition that vulnerable older people are still 
able to play an important part of the community. This can take the shape of 
community based services offering in-reach services to residential care 
residents or hospital working with voluntary sector organisations and faith 
groups to give added benefit to hospital discharge.  
 
An example of this was a discharge meeting with a stroke patient and family 
which consisted of one social worker and four clinical staff. All of the health 
needs and the basic social care needs (minor adaptations) were dealt with, 
but there was no-one who could consider that the patient wanted to go and 
get his morning paper, wanted help on a computer to continue his work on the 
family tree and go for a pint on a Friday. These areas could be supported by 
the voluntary or community sector yet they are very rarely included in the 
pathway or any discharge process. This is an innovation that could 
significantly improve integrated care.  
 
4. What are the priorities for supporting greater prevention and early 
intervention?  
 
There has been a significant and growing emphasis on the need to change 
the way adult social care services are delivered in response to the 
demographic challenge of an ageing population, and we need to ensure that 
the whole system response which will be built around personalised services 
with increased emphasis on prevention and early intervention is able to 
effectively support this. 
 
There are a number of National documents that further support the 
development of the prevention and early intervention agenda. The 
Government White Paper: Our Health, Our Care, Our Say (January 2006) 
outlines the overall shift from complex care to prevention and this is further 
evidenced in Putting People First – Transforming Adult Social Care (2007) 
and High quality care for all (Darzi report 2008). These documents 
demonstrate the importance of prevention and how an agreed model of early 
intervention could work across a number of service areas. 
 

Page 34



 

However there needs to be an overall understanding of the definition of 
prevention and that in order to be effective it needs to be universally accepted 
by all.  
 
This is an issue that needs to be tackled by Government. The health service 
as seen by the majority of the public is only covering the point of delivery, 
usually due to a crisis. To achieve a cultural change there would need to be a 
radical shift of resources from acute care into community based prevention. 
This would be extremely unpopular with the voting public, so there needs to 
be a period of education to help people understand that Health, Social Care, 
third sector etc are all part of the same process and therefore a shift in 
resources fits with supporting the NHS. Development of high level indicators 
at the national level and promotion of locality based targets is required. 
Identification of and information on identified savings is required along with the 
sharing of best practice.  This could be supported by benchmarking with 
similar areas of the country.  
 
Health promotion is embedded into all of our communities and some of the 
messages have been very successful i.e. five a day etc. However, despite this 
success health inequalities are still rising. There are two possible contributing 
factors to this:  
 
1. As we complete more research and gather more evidence public health 
messages can become contradictory and people can become confused by the 
right thing to do (e.g. MMR vaccinations). 
 
2. Often health improvement services are offered to the whole population, 
whereas there is enough evidence to suggest that if these services 
concentrated on the most vulnerable people they would have a greater impact 
on the overall health inequalities of the population.  
 
This is very simplistic answer to an issue that has many more contributing 
determinants on health, however, if we can address the two points above it 
will start to help people’s health and wellbeing in our local communities.  
 
We need to stop thinking about prevention and early intervention as a 
separate issue and integrate it into practice at all levels.  
 
Good outcomes can be patient defined, patient experience, improved reported 
quality of life, reduced need for health intervention, reduced admission to 
hospital. Good outcomes in prevention can only be achieved if the service and 
the service user clearly understand what they want to achieve at the outset of 
the process.  
 
Clear prevention strategies that outline the difference between Primary, 
Secondary and Tertiary prevention for an individual are important. Also it is 
important for all services to remember that people still have prevention needs 
even if they have complex health needs. For example a person who moves 
into a residential care home due to ill health might still want to go to church 
every Sunday, by not facilitating these services could risk affecting the 
individual’s emotional well-being.  
 

Page 35



 

Commission for public health outcomes rather than units of ill health 
treatment. However, there is an argument for more outcomes focussed on the 
actual needs of the community rather than the general public health message 
which may improve ability to engage with self care and earlier access to 
advice. Pump priming some projects within communities that could then be 
used to demonstrate to others that things can be achieved through different 
means. 
 
There needs to be a range of mechanisms that target whole populations at 
different levels and then at specific groups to individual levels. Promotion of 
health should be everybody’s work.  
 
There needs to be a lifting of the scrutiny that the public sector is under. If you 
want to produce a culture of innovation this is often carried out with an 
element of risk. This risk firstly needs to be accepted and then properly 
managed. With the current economic restrictions there is added scrutiny from 
the public. The attached news report shows an innovative solution that not 
only is supported by patients, but saves money, yet the Hospital in question is 
forced to defend itself under public scrutiny.  
 
http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-london-11708963  
 
5. What are the priorities for creating a more diverse and responsive 
care market?  
 
The Social Care market would be defined as the range of providers of social 
care components of care packages, which could be individuals, groups or 
organisations, and be statutory, voluntary, private or informal and increasingly 
involves other services not traditionally viewed as social care but clearly 
deliver a social care function (e.g. libraries). 
 
Whilst client group is relevant, level of need is a continuum and the market 
needs appropriate skill sets to be able to respond to a range of need whether 
it is for an older person or younger adult.  
 
What is clear is that assumptions about the social care market are going to 
change in the coming years. Key trends include greater choice and control 
over service provision for users and carers, a stronger emphasis on 
communities / prevention and changes in the basis of funding care.  
 
In the long term, the market for social care is likely to expand (based on the 
demographic growth of the population combined with a continuing period of 
morbidity prior to death) with a greater number of self funders of both care and 
health services due to a diminution of state funding combined with greater 
pensioner wealth. 
 
Growth in the numbers of older people will drive a change in attitudes 
and services towards older people - There will be an increased 
development of older people-friendly housing and also shops and community 
facilities being made more accessible to older people. These initiatives are 
likely to be driven by greater numbers of older people combined with higher 
levels of disposable income and property amongst the over 65 population.  

Page 36



 

 
A greater number of older people will control their care funding - In some 
ways this is inevitable if there is a growth in population and a growth in wealth 
and equity amongst the older person’s population. This will also occur through 
a greater emphasis on the use of personal budgets by central and local 
government together with a retraction in local authority expenditure. What is 
less clear is the financial impact of people with a learning disability outliving 
their parents and what happens to the disposal of those people’s estates. 
 
There will be changes in the home care market as more diverse roles are 
expected from home care providers - The home care market is still very 
diverse with a large number of small providers. This is likely to continue as 
long as the home care function remains relatively discreet and with low entry 
barriers. However, if greater expectations are placed on home care services 
to deliver more complex interventions at the health and social care interface 
then this may result in changes including higher entry barriers. This may lead 
to changes in business models, including perhaps the consolidation of some 
providers, and increased specialisation by others. Diversification and 
increased demand due to population growth may also bring new players into 
this sector. All home care providers may be squeezed by greater use of 
unregulated support including personal assistants. 
 
The care home market will continue to consolidate and care homes will 
get larger - The care home market is still the sector most likely to attract large 
scale providers. There is an impression that the average size of care homes is 
continuing to increase (mainly driven by economies of scale). Competition 
between large care providers is likely to increase as the number of potential 
customers, grows. More direct marketing to service users is likely to be a 
feature. 
 
There will be a continuing reduction in the role of local authorities as 
direct providers of care - Despite the move from the 1980’s onwards for 
local authorities to divest themselves of in-house provision, in some areas 
they are still significant providers. All indications are that local authorities will 
continue to reduce this commitment in the future. For example residential care 
home places in council run homes fell by over 7,000 between 2004 and 2008 
and this trend was mirrored in Halton. However, the overall size of the market 
remained relatively static. 
 
The next generation of older people is likely to take a wider view of 
where they spend their final years - This current generation of older people 
is far more used to, and accepting of, overseas travel and hence prepared to 
seek cheaper retirement accommodation outside the UK. Such a trend has 
been encouraged in recent years both by an increasing supply of care and 
retirement accommodation in Europe, particularly Spain. Continuance of this 
trend may depend on price vs. location combined with older people still being 
able to access UK benefits whilst living abroad. 
 
These trends, as outlined in Transforming Social Care and Putting People 
First, are likely to involve a changed relationship between local authorities and 
the social care market. Authorities have already moved from being primary 
providers of care to roles as commissioners and purchasers. What will this 

Page 37



 

mean for the financial viability for the services currently delivered by the Local 
Authority ?This move from direct involvement in front line care is likely to be 
further encouraged by local authorities seeing one of their primary tasks as 
being able to facilitate and develop the care market; ensuring an appropriate 
range of services are available (regardless of whether care is being 
purchased by self funders, personal budget holders or by the Local Authority 
on their behalf), without the reliance on direct purchasing power that has been 
the case in recent times. 
 
A robust Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) needs to be in place 
alongside published commissioning intentions to inform market development. 
The JSNA should not just be a series of data and needs to be based around 
the health questions and priorities that need to be addressed locally. For 
example, what is being done locally for people who have survived a stroke (a 
major health issue in Halton)? This shifts the data from just counting numbers 
to looking at trends. This is important as there is a subtle difference between 
the number of people who have had a stroke in a geographical area 
compared to the incidence of stroke in the last 12 months. 
 
Health and Wellbeing Boards must be central in influencing the social care 
market and also other strategic partnerships which influence factors that are 
the wider determinants of heath  such as employment, housing and 
community development. 
 
In managing the Social Care market improved information, training, support 
and advice to providers and commissioners is required. Greater 
understanding of needs and current best practice methods of person centred 
support by providers, whether in residential or community settings, would shift 
focus away from ‘specialist’ providers, increase supply, improve quality of 
outcomes and offer greater choice for both local authority and individual 
commissioners. 
 
Telehealth and telecare, improvements in domiciliary, residential and nursing 
home practice and changes in housing with care need to form the basis of 
future interventions. Local Authorities and partners will need to take an 
evidence informed view of the areas where they need to invest in the future. 
 
The overriding considerations in assessing the market are quality and cost 
effectiveness. The care market is not protected from market forces - as 
financial crises for a range of providers has recently demonstrated. As part of 
the provider registration process there should be an assessment of business 
viability and Care Quality Commission (CQC) are best placed to co-ordinate 
this and review as part of its ongoing monitoring and inspection regime. 
Publication of this information could be detrimental to the continuity of a 
struggling enterprise but could be used as an alert by CQC and/or local 
authorities that there is a problem with the provider and this may pose a threat 
to continuity of care. 
 
If local authorities and service users are to get consistent, viable services that 
reflect peoples changing expectations then there is a need to carefully 
consider the balance in relationships between service users, the local 
authority and the social care market. This can be further developed by the 

Page 38



 

increasing power for GPs. The market has to understand that GPs operate as 
a business and with this comes all of the normal risks of a failing organisation, 
but with the increased risk to patients if this happens.  
 
Individual purchasing through direct payments could have a positive impact in 
driving up quality and encouraging smaller providers into the market place. 
However it may also reduce provider’s economies of scale and increases risk 
of sustainability as there are no guarantees of business through block 
contracts. For a range of small providers viability, quality and performance 
may be an issue if standards are to be met. The market could respond to this 
additional risk by increasing prices for personal budget holders. At this time 
there is limited evidence that quality in outcomes is increasing proportionate to 
increased price. Over time this may level out as consumer choice dictates 
which providers in the market they value and those that should leave. 

 

Self directed support may fragment the market and make it more difficult for 
Authorities to manage the market, leading to issues of service quality, 
safeguarding and cost effectiveness.  Market fragmentation risks a failure to 
attract and develop the right people with the right skills and ensuring they are 
retained in the system. 
 
All providers within the care market should have monitoring measures in place 
and there would need to be contingency arrangements for provider failure to 
ensure individual’s care packages do not collapse.  There should also be 
arrangements for reviewing performance, learning lessons from failure and 
undertaking processes to transfer learning to quickly introduce revisions.  
 
6. What role could the financial services market play in supporting 
users, carers and their families?  
 
There is a culture change required to make clear from early on in people’s 
lives that there may be a compulsory requirement to fund elements of care 
later in life. 
 
There is a lack of clarity about the risk element individual users would be 
undertaking. Advice and support needs be delivered to help people 
understand this and the options available to them. The financial services 
sector will have a role in this but are there other organisations that may be 
better placed – such as Local HealthWatch? The advice and support would 
need to be impartial. 
 
Any system with nationally consistent eligibility criteria, portability of 
assessments and a more objective assessment would need to have robust 
reassessment and review procedures to ensure both need is met and finance 
is used in the most effective and efficient way. It could be argued that a 
consistent approach contradicts the concept of personalisation. A national 
standard criteria would be useful for professionals, but not always helpful for 
service users.  
 
Questions about what wider roles could the financial services industry play 
may be best directed towards the financial services sector.  
 

Page 39



 

7. Do you have any other comments on social care reform, including the 
recommendations of the Commission on Funding of Care and Support? 
 
There is no doubt that the elements of integration are welcomed, however as 
explained in some of the previous answers it is challenging to carry out 
successful integration etc with the financial backdrop we are currently working 
in.  
 
For example, the adult social care departments (in England) have been 
reducing their budgets in 2011/12 by £1billion in response to the overall 
reductions in public spending and that this pace of reductions is likely to 
continue over the current spending review period. A full analysis of the budget 
pressures experienced by Adult Social Care is captured in the ADASS Budget 
Survey 2011 Analysis. It is believed that this current funding will lead to 
efficiencies being required in the self directed support services and will put a 
strain on the policy underpinning the personalisation agenda. Is it going to be 
affordable? The journey started four years ago within a different context and 
financial climate.  The need to achieve savings over very short time scales 
presents risks that really need to be understood and mitigated against. Also it 
is about managing expectations and reinforcing the citizenship/responsibility 
element of the Coalition’s Government for Adult Social Care as set out in their 
November 2010 vision.  
 
It would prove useful if more comprehensive guidance on “deliberate” 
deprivation of assets to avoid future charges was made available along with 
future guidance on charges for services when considering the changes that 
will take place when the White Paper is implemented. 
 
Consideration needs to be given to the impact that wider social/welfare reform 
and associated policy changes will have on the provision of Adult social care 
as a whole for example what will the impact of the localisation of council tax 
benefits have? Will the Government be considering this and other policy 
changes in terms of the impact they will have, prior to publication of the White 
Paper and update report on Funding Reform? 
 
Further consideration also needs to be given to the role that providers of low 
level activities and services provided to promote health and wellbeing, have in 
reducing the spend on more intensive services. 
 
 
 

Page 40


	Agenda
	3a Annual Audit Letter
	2010-2011 - Annual Audit Letter - Halton BC v1 0

	3b Determination of the Council Tax Base
	4a ‚Caring for our Future: Shared ambitions for care and support™ Consultation

